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rational one to which we defer. Because we
decide that the Commission’s decision to in-
crease initial reservation rates before com-
mencement of service does not affect the risk
allocation incorporated into optional certifi-
cate procedures, we do not address PGT’s
argument that the Commission’s orders’ ef-
fect upon risk allocation threatens to obliter-
ate the distinction between optional and con-
ventional certificates.

D

[10]1 Finally, PGT asserts that the Com-
mission’s increase of Kern River’s and Mo-
Jjave's reservation rates above the levels spec-
ified in their contracts violates the Commis-
sion’s standards. PGT claims that, by allow-
“ing an increase in previously negotiated res-
ervation fees that the Commission had ap-
proved as incorporated into Kern River’s and
Mojave’s agreements with their customers,
the Commission violated the plain language
of its prior order authorizing negotiation of
reservation fees within set parameters.

The Commission considered this argument
in its orders approving amendments of the
optional certificates and observed that Kern
River and Mojave had indicated that their
shippers had reviewed the proposed rate in-
creases and did not object to them. 58
FERC at 61,237; 68 FERC at 61,246, The
Commission emphasizes in its brief that an
increase in the initial Teservation fee is “sim-
ply an amendment to the original terms of
service” and would not work the same injus-
tice as a later change in the reservation fee
through a section 4 rate proceeding that
would undermine the parties’ agreements.
Once again, in light of the Commission’s au-
thority to modify the initial rates through a
section 7 certificate amendment, PGT’s argu-
ment fails.

II1.

Because the Commission’s actions were not
inconsistent with, and flowed rationally from,
the language of the statute and regulations,
and because the Commission adequately ex-
plained its departure from past interpreta-
tions of the same regulations in its prior
orders, we find that the Commission’s actions
were neither arbitrary nor capricious and did

not constitute an abuse of discretion. Ac-
cordingly, we DENY the petition for review
and AFFIRM the Commission’s orders
amending Kern River and Mojave’s certifi-
cates and denying PGT’s application for re-
hearing.
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Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
(FERC) entered order finding that natural
gas supplier violated Natural Gas Act (NGA)
by sales of excess gas through its subsidiar-
ies to noncaptive customers at market rate
instéad of at supplier’s filed rate. FERC
also refused to allow supplier to pass through
$75 million to some of its customers, ordered
supplier to refund $48.5 million it had already
collected, and abandoned a second remedy

-that it initially considered that would have

required supplier to disgorge about $26 mil-
lion in net transportation revenues. Supplier
petitioned for review, and its customers in-
tervened, seeking restructuring of FERC’s
remedy. The Court of Appeals, Jerry E.
Smith, Circuit Judge, held that: (1) evidence
supported findings that supplier sold gas at
price below its filed rates and made nnduly
discriminatory sales; (2) supplier was not
entitled to pass through $75 million to its
customers; and (3) FERC properly rejected
$26 million disgorgement.

Petitions denied.
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1. Gas &=1

Court of Appeals reviews Federal Ener-
gv Regulatory Commission’s (FERC) orders
to prevent arbitrary results. Natural Gas
Act, § 19(b), 15 U.S.C.A. § T17r(b).

2. Gas &14.34)

Evidence supported finding that natural
gas supplier and its subsidiaries were “single
entity,” and that, thus, sales of excess gas by
subsidiaries to noncaptive customers at mar-
ket-responsive prices, rather than at suppli-
er’s filed rate, were below-costs sales by
company in violation of filed rate require-
ments; composition of three companies’ cor-
porate board was almost identical, agree-
ments among three were wholly informal,
and no legal documents governed transac-
tions among them. Natural Gas Act, §§ 4(b,
d), 7c), 15 U.S.C.A. §§ T17c(b, d), T17f(c).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and def-
initions.

3. Gas &14.3(4)

Evidence supported finding that natural
gas supplier’s transfers of gas through its
subsidiaries were “sales,” not “transportation
imbalances,” for purposes of Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission’s (FERC) finding
that supplier deliberately used subsidiaries to
circumvent filed rate requirements; title to
gas transferred from supplier to its custom-
ers, customer paid money to supplier once
customer received gas from supplier, “imba-
lance” lasted thirteen months even though
supplier’s transportation tariff required elim-
ination of imbalances within thirteen days,
and supplier never informed its customers of
existence of imbalances, even though custom-
ers would have been financially accountable
for them. Natural Gas Act, §§8 4(b, d), 7(c),
15 U.S.C.A. §§ T17c(b, d), T17f(c).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and def-
initions. -

4. Gas ¢14.3(4)

Evidence supported finding that natural
gas supplier sold gas to captive customers at
higher rate than to noncaptive customers,
thereby engaging in “undue” discrimination;
supplier did not make any showing that dis-
criminatory pricing was only way to achieve
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alleged benefits it sought, nor -did it show
why cheaper gas could not be used to lower
price of gas to captive customers. Natural
Gas Act, § 4(b), 15 U.S.C.A. § T17c(b).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and def-
initions. .

5. Gas <14.3(1)

Federal Energy Regulatory Commis-
sion’s (FERC) order precluding natural gas
supplier from passing through to its custom-
ers $75 million in unrecovered gas costs was
not “civil penalty”. that would have been for-
bidden by Natural Gas Act (NGA); FERC’s
order did not force supplier to give all pay-
ment for gas it sold, but rather, it allowed
supplier to recover its actual cost of gas,
specifically taking into account lower prices
supplier’s subsidiaries paid for gas, while re-
fusing to allow supplier to recover money it
lost when it illegally sold gas at prices below
its filed rate through its subsidiaries. Natu-
ral Gas Act, § 4(d), 15 U.S.C.A. § 717c(d).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and def-
initions.

6. Gas ¢=14.6

In ordering natural gas supplier to re-

fund $48.5 million pass-through it had collect-

ed, to remedy supplier’s violation of Natural
Gas Act arising from its foreing captive cus-

‘tomers to subsidize illegal, market-price sales

to nonecaptive customers, Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) properly re-
quired that refunds be made pro rata to
some customers who paid less than captive
customers, despite customer’s complaint that
it would continue to be denied benefits from
discounted sales; FERC logically concluded
that. surcharge amounts already collected
should be refunded to supplier’s customers
who paid those amounts. Natural Gas Act,
§ 4(d), 15 US.C.A. § T17c(d).

7. Gas €=14.6

In fashioning remedy for natural gas
supplier’s sales of excess gas through its
subsidiaries to noncaptive customers at mar-
ket rate instead of supplier’s filed rate, which
sales violated Natural Gas Act, Federal En-
ergy Regulatory Commission (FERC) prop-
erly rejected proposed remedy that would
have required supplier to disgorge about $26
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million.in net transportation revenues it had
collected for carrying gas that it then sold
illegally; FERC rationally decided that $75
million remedy sufficiently addressed any
harm, and noted that market circumstances
were confusing and that it originally thought
schemes like supplier’s were acceptable.
Natural Gas Act, § 4(d), 15 US.CA.
§ 717¢(d).

8. Gas ©=14.3(3)

Natural gas suppher s customer falled to
show that improper activity occurred with
respect to supplier’s ex parte contacts with
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission’s
(FERC) attorneys that led to FERC’s hear-
ing oral argument on petition for rehearing,
nor was customer prejudiced in any way;
supplier’s request led only to procedural re-
sult, i.e., opportunity for all sides to present
their arguments orally, and customer gave no
evidence whatsoever to bolster its position
that something else transpired.
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ton, DC, for Atlanta Gas Light Co.

Rush Moody, Jr., Robert G. Hardy, Ken-
neth L. Wiseman, Washington, DC, Lynn R.
Coleman, -John N. Estes, II, Skadden, Arps,
Slate, Meagher & Flom, Washington, DC,
Randall R. Conklin, David E. Varner, Trans-
continental Gas Pipeline Corp., Houston, TX,
for Transcontinental Gas Pipeline Corp.

James F. Bowe, Jr., 0. Julia Weller, Wash-
ington, DC, for Long Island Lighting Co.
(also appears as intervenor).

Morton L. Simons, Barbara M. Simons,
Simons+ & Simons, Washington, DC, for
North Carolina Utilities Com’n (also appears
as intervenor).

Edward S. Geldermann, Jerome M. Feit,
Sol. F'..E‘R.C.,‘ Washington, DC, for F.E.R.C.

Petitions for Review of Orders of the Fed-

eral Energy Regulatory Commission.

Before REYNALDO GARZA, SMITH, -
and BARKSDALE, Circuit Judges.

JERRY E. SMITH, Circuit Judge:

Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corpora-

tion (“Transco”) appeals an order of the Fed-

eral Energy Regulatory Commission (“the
Commission” or “FERC”) finding that Tran-
sco violated the Natural Gas Act (“NGA”)

-and refusing to allow Transco to pass

throtigh $75 million to some of its customers.
Several of Transco’s customers have inter-
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vened, urging us to restructure the remedy
_the Commission crafted. . We decline to do so
and affirm the Commission’s order in all
respects.

I

This case has at its roots the changes that
occurred in the natural gas industry in the
1970’s when interstate pipelines started to
curtail service upon entering into long-term
purchasing agreements. In 1978, Transco
signed long-term contracts to buy gas from
its producers. The contracts included “take-
or-pay” provisions that obligated Transco ei-
ther to take delivery of an amount of gas or
to pay for that amount even if Transco did
not take delivery.

In the early 1980’s, the price of gas de-
clined. Transco still was bound to take or
pay for gas at prices well above the market
rate. The Commission’s regulations required
Transco to charge all customers the same
price for gas, computed by averaging the cost
of all gas Transco purchased; this is called
the weighted average cost of gas purchased
for resale (“WACOG”). Partly because of
Transco’s take-or-pay contracts, its WACOG
‘was higher than the price of alternative fuels
or gas available on the spot market. As a
result, Transco started to lose customers,
called “non-captive” customers, who -could
shift to dlternative fuels or buy on the spot
market. Customers without access to lower-
priced alternatives, who had to continue to
purchase WACOG fuel at a rate filed with
the Commission, were called “captive.”

In the mid-1980’s, the Commission started
encouraging pipelines to devise new ways to
combat their declining sales. In response,
Transco set up a program, called a Special
Marketing Program, that the Commission
approved—on a temporary, experimental ba-
sis—in 1983. Under this program, Transco

1..- Dth = Decatherm, a measure of gas based
upon its heat content. One decatherm equals
1,000 cubic feet of gas with the standard heat
content. Columbia Gas Transmission Corp. v.
FERC, 848 F.2d 250, 251 n. 1 (D.C.Cir.1988).

2. In May 1985, the District of Columbia Circuit
issued its opinions in the Maryland People’s
Counsel cases. In Maryland People’s Counsel v.
FERC, 761 F.2d 768 (D.C.Cir.1985) (“MPC I'"),
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released gas subject to high take-or-pay re-
quirements for sale on the spot market.
Transco then. could transport the market-
priced gas to non-captive -customers. In
1984, the Commission conditioned the exten-
sion of the. program on Transco’s agreeing to
grant - captive customers .some access to
cheaper gas, up to ten percent of the maxi-
mum volume of gas that the captive custom-
ers could demand.

Not completely satisfied with the Commis-
sion’s conditions, Transco proposed its own
Discount Service Program instead. Under
this program, all customers could buy up to
three percent of their required gas at market
prices and then buy an additional seven per-
cent at market prices if they purchased a
“threshold level” of Transco’s more expensive
system supply gas. The Commission ap-
proved Transco’s Discount Service Program
in March 1985, stipulating, however, that the
plan not go into effect until the United States
Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia
Circuit permitted Transco to carry out the
program.

When the Distriet of Columbia Circuit had
not acted by April 1985, Transco, without the
Commission’s approval, decided to implement
a variation of its Discount Service Program
by creating two subsidisries, Transco Re-
sources, Ine. (“TRI”), and Transco Energy
Marketing Co. (“TEMCO”), to sell more of
its excess gas to non-captive customers at the
market rate instead of at Transco’s filed rate
of $3.01 per Dth.! Transco used TRI to sell
gas from April until October 1985, and TEM-
CO from June until November 1985.%

Transco arranged for TRI to prepay pro-
ducers at spot market prices from revenues
obtained from TRI’s sale of gas from the
Transco system supply. In exchange, the
producers released gas to TRI that had been
contracted for by Transco. TRI later re-

Maryland People’s Counsel v. FERC, 761 F.2d
780 (D.C.Cir.1985) (“MPC II"), and Maryland
People’s Counsel v. FERC, 768 F.2d 450 (D.C.Cir.
1985) (“MPC III"), the court disallowed a spe-
cial marketing program approved by FERC, one
very similar to Transco’s, stressing that it unduly
discriminated against captive customers by deny-
ing them the same access to lower-priced gas
that non-captive customers enjoyed.
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turned some volumes of gas to Transco and projected costs. This showed up as a pro-

bought and sold gas from the spot market to
non-captive customers. From April until Au-
gust 1985, TRI sold gas at an average price
of about $2.55 per Dth, $.46 below Transco’s
filed rate charged to captive customers.?
From April through July 1985, TRI sold
more gas each month than it purchased.

TEMCO operated in a similar fashion.
Transco also set up TEMCO to sell gas to
non-captive customers at market-responsive
prices, a function Transco could not perform
under the NGA. TEMCO concurrently sold
and prepaid for gas at market rates that
Transco released from its pipeline. TEMCO
sold this gas before the producers actually
produced any gas. From June until Novem-
ber 1985, TEMCO sold gas to non-captive
customers at an average price of about $2.23
per Dth.  During this time, TEMCO sold
more gas than it pﬁrchased, creating what
Transco termed a “transportation imba-
lance,” the difference between receipts and
deliveries under a transportation agreement.

Transco would have faced a large underre-
covery had it set up TRI and TEMCO to
repay Transco in cash for the gas they sold
at the market rate. To avoid such a loss,
Transco arranged for its subsidiaries to re-
pay Transco in gas. Transco then sold this
gas to its captive customers at the filed rate
- of $3.01 per Dth, despite the fact that TRI
and TEMCO had originally paid market
rates of between about $2.23 and $2.55 per
Dth for this gas. Transco thus created an
inflated differential between its actual and

3. Actually, most of the captive customers paid
slightly below the filed rate because they had
access to at least three percent of their gas at the
market rate. -

4. In a May 1986 offer of settlement, Transco
proposed to limit its recovery to $75 million,
rather than $81.3 million.

5. In February 1987, another ALJ had issued a
decision purporting to resolve the case. In Sep-
tember 1987, FERC remanded to a different ALJ
for a more thorough development of the record.

6. Section 4(d) provides,

Unless the Commission otherwise orders, no
change shall be made by any natural-gas com-
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jected under-recovery in the spring of 1986
of $81.3 million.

Transco’s filed rate of $3.01 per. Dth was
based upon projected costs calculated in ear-
ly 1985, It turned up the $81.3 million un-
derrecovery when it figured its actual costs.
These figures allegedly revealed that Tran-
sco really paid about $3.30 per Dth for the
gas it sold in 1985 and 1986. Under the
Commission’s regulations, Transco. was al-
lowed to seek recovery of the difference be-
tween the rate it collected and its- actual
costs by imposing a surcharge on its custom-
ers.

In April 1986, Transco requested the Com-
mission to allow it to recoup a $75 million
“passthrough.” ¢ The Commission permitted
Transco to collect the refund, on a deferred
basis, subject to Transco’s refunding whatev-
er it collected upon the outcome of hearings
on the propriety of the amount. Transco
collected about $48.5 million before the Com-
mission issued its final order.

An administrative law judge (“ALJ”) is-
sued an initial decision (called Phase I), ad-
dressing only the issue of liability, on August
29, 19885 concluding that Transco and its
affiliates, TEMCO and TRI, should be
viewed as a single entity. Accordingly, sales
by TRI and TEMCO were sales by Transco,
below-cost sales in violation of the filed rate
requirements of section 4(d) of the NGA, 15
US.C. § 717c(d).5 Because some of these
sales'were to customers to whom Transco did
not have authorization to sell, it violated sec-

pany in any such rate, charge, classification, or
service, or in any rule, regulations, or contract
relating thereto, except after thirty days’ notice
to the Commission and to the public. Such
notice shall be given by filing with the Com-
mission and keeping open for public inspection
new schedules stating plainly the change or
changes to be made in the schedule or sched-
ules then in force and the time when the
change or changes will go into effect. The
Commission, for good cause shown, may allow
changes to take effect without requiring the
thirty days’ notice herein provided for by an
order specifying the changes so to be made
and the time when they shall take effect and
the manner in which they shall be filed and
‘published.



1318

tion 7(c) of the NGA, 15 US.C.. § 7177

The ALJ based his single entity determi-
nation upon the fact that the composition of
the corporate hierarchies of the TRI, TEM-
CO, and Transco were almost identical. All
of TRI's officers, and all except for one of
TEMCO’s officers, also were Transco offi-
cers. Six of TEMCO's seven directors were
directors at Transco. TRI, TEMCO, and
Transco all had the same address. TRI had
no employees, and TEMCO had but éighteen
employees, all of whom were former Transco
employees. Corporate distinctions were ig-
nored in dealings among the three groups,
and no legal instruments governed transae-
tions among the three groups.

The ALJ next determined that the trans-
actions at issue were sales, not “transporta-
tion imbalances.” Defining a sale as the
“transfer of title for a price” (in accord with
U.C.C. § 2-106(1)), the ALJ found that one
company (Transco through TRI and TEM-
CO) simply transferred its gas to customers
in exchange for money. The ALJ concluded
that Transco deliberately used TRI and
TEMCO to circumvent the filed rate require-
ments of section 4(d) of the NGA. He re-
fused to. allow a company bound by a filed
rate to create a subsidiary to sell gas at
lower rates.

The ALJ finally found that Transco dis-
criminated against captive customers by pro-
viding access to lower-price gas only to non-
captive ' customers. The ALJ determined
that Transco had not met its burden of prov-
ing that the diserimination was not “undue”
within the meaning of section 4(b) of the
NGA, 15 U.S.C. § 717c(b),® and Transco had
not shown that discriminatory pricing was
the only way to lower prices.

On. December 15, 1989, the ALJ issued a
decision on remedies, called Phase I1. First,
the ALJ adopted part of a remedy suggested
by a Commission accountant, Robert Fulton,

7. Section 7(c) prohibits a gas company from
selling gas in interstate commerce for resale
without an outstanding certificate. ’

8. Section 4(b) provides,
No natural-gas company shall, with respect to
any transportation or sale of natural gas sub-
ject to the jurisdiction of the Commission, (1)
make or grant any undue preference or advan-
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who recalculated Transco’s costs using the
actual spot market prices TRI and TEMCO
had paid instead of the $3.01 rate Transco
claimed. This recalculation showed that
Transco underrecovered about $2.6 million,
not $81.3 million. Since Transco already had
agreed to lower its claim from $81 million to
$75 million, effectively foregoing $6.3 million,
Fulton’s recaleulation reduced Transco’s
claim to zero.

The ALJ ordered Transco to refund the
$48.5 million passthrough it already had col-
lected, finding that the recalculation remed-
ied Transeo’s violation of forcing its captive
customers to subsidize the illegal, market-
price sales to non-captive customers. All
customers that had paid the passthrough
would receive these refunds.

The ALJ based the second part of the
remedy upon a proposal by a Commission
auditor, Gloria Halstead, who suggested a
refund of about $26 million ® of profits that
Transco had realiz_éd on the transportation of
gas that it had sold illegally. She urged that
Transco pay $15.7 million to customers who
had paid an average price for gas above the
average price of all gas sold by Transco,
TEMCO, and TRI.. She then urged that
Transco refund the remaining $10.3 millicn
pro rate to all captive customers.

*On September 12, 1990, the Commission
issued an -order affirming the ALJ’s deci-
gions. First, the Commission affirmed the
ALJ’s finding that the contested transactions
were sales, not transportation imbalances.
The Commission reasoned that the transac-
tions had “all the hallmarks of a sale,” that
Transco had developed and operated the af-
filiates solely as a vehicle to sell discounted
Transco gas, and that while Transco’s trans-
portation tariff required the elimination of
imbalances within thirty days, the imbalance
at issue lasted thirteen months. The Com-

tage to any person or subject any person to any
undue prejudice or disadvantage, or (2) main-
tain any unreasonable difference in rates,

" charges, service, facilities, or in any other re-
spect, either as between localities or as be-
tween classes of service.

9. After calculating interest, this amount becomes
bout $36 million.
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mission also concluded that the ALJ correct-
ly had relied upon the MPC cases in finding
that Transco could not justify its discrimina-
tory pricing.

Finally, the Commission determined that
the ALJ properly imposed remedies. They
were not penalties, nor did they deny Tran-
sco its right to recover its costs. The dis-
gorgement simply foreced Transco to surren-
der “profits realized in the transportation of
gas that was sold under conditions that were
unduly discriminatory and not sold at the
pipeline’s filed sales rate.”® The Commis-
sion also denied Transco’s request for oral
argument.

At some point in late 1990 or early 1991,
one of Transco’s attorneys asked the Com-
mission’s General Counsel to hear oral argu-
ment on Transco’s motion for rehearing of
the September 15, 1990, order. Oral argu-
ment was heard on April 16, 1991.

On January 15, 1992, the Commission is-
sued its order on rehearing, affirming part of
its previous order but reversing part as well.
Specifically, the Commission affirmed its pre-
vious determination that Transco had violat-
ed sections 4(b), 4(d), and 7(c) of the NGA
because the transactions in question were not
certificated, were below the filed rate, and
were unduly discriminatory. The alleged
benefits of the transactions and the circum-
stances affecting the gas industry at the time
did not overcome the unduly discriminatory
nature of the transactions. Moreover, Tran-
sco made nho showing that the alleged bene-
fits could not have ‘been attained. through
non-discriminatory pricing.

The Commission then addressed the reme-
dies. It first retained the remedy requiring
Transco to forego recovery of $75 million in
unrecovered gas costs because the remedy
was “closely related” to the illegal -sales.
Since Transco had calculated its $75 million
in unrecovered costs by using only Transco’s
WACOG, once the ALJ found that Transco,
TRI, and TEMCO were but one company,
Transco had to compute its WACOG as that
of TRI, TEMCO, and itself. Because this
yielded unrecovered costs that were $78.6

10. The ALJ also denied Transco recovery of
$853,000 in costs associated with sales by its
subsidiaries to non-captive customers and or-

million lower than claimed, Transco was not
entitled to any recovery and had to refund
the $48.5 million it already had collected.
The Commission once again rejected Tran-
sco’s argument that its sales method inflicted
no harm, finding instead that all customers
were harmed because they all eventually paid
$3.01 per Dth for gas that had cost less.

The Commission, however, reversed itself
on another part of the remedy, eliminating
the requirement that Transco disgorge the
$26 million in profits from transportation rev-
enues (the Halstead remedy), reasoning as
follows:

Any further equitable remedy is unneces-
sary, particularly in light of the market

- circumstances and industry-wide problems
under which Transco acted.... At the
‘remedial stage of a proceeding the Com-
mission exercises its discretion to take into
account a broader range of factors, includ-
ing equitable circumstances, than it does at
the violation stage.... [Tthe primary
reason for limiting the remedy to the re-
calculation of the allowable unrecovered
gas costs is a recognition of the circum-
stances at the time....

Finally, the Commission discussed its deci-
sion to hear oral argument in the case. It
found that even if Transco’s attorney’s oral
request for oral argument was considered an
ex parte communication, it caused no harm.
All parties were allowed to argue; no party
requested rehearing of the order setting oral
argument. Two dissenting commissioners
found that since the communication was pro-
cedural in nature, unrelated to the merits, it
was not an.ex parte communication.

Several of Transco’s customers, including
North  Carolina  Utilities Commission
(“NCUC”) and Long Island Lighting Compa-
ny (“LILCO”), filed motions urging rehear-
ing of the Commission’s January 15 order.
NCUC objected to the elimination of the $26
million transportation revenue . remedy.
LILCO objected to the elimination of the
allocation scheme that would have refunded
more than a pro rate share of refunds to

dered Transco to refund that amount.

FERC
eliminated this part of the remedy. :
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captive customers most affected by price dis-
crimination.  LILCO asked the Commission
to allocate about $15 million of the $75 mil-
lion remedy to those customers.

On March 16, 1992, the Commission issued
another order denying both rehearing re-
quests. The Commission refused to rein-
state the $26 million in transportation reve-
nues because

around the time of the Transco transac-

tions at issue here the Commission itself

had authorized other pipelines to engage in
special marketing programs that had dis-
criminatory effects similar to those of

Transco’s transactions in this case. How-

ever, in the Maryland People’s Counsel

cases the Court of Appeals found the Com-
mission had not adequately justified the
discrimination.  Although the specific

Transeo transactions here do not have the

veneer of Commission authorization, . as

those at issue in the Maryland People’s

Counsel cases, nonetheless, it does not ap-

pear to be equitable to penalize Transco

further for diserimination similar to that
which the Commission itself did not think
was undue prior to the ruling of the Court
of Appeals in the Marylaond People’s
Counsel cases.

On appeal to this court, Transco asks us to
reverse the Commission’s remedy disallowing
its recovery of $75 million. NCUC and
LILCO urge us to revise the remedy. The
Commission seeks enforcement of its final
order in full.

II.

[1] Our jurisdiction to review the Com-
mission’s orders arises under section 19(b) of
the NGA, 15 U.8.C. § 717r(b), which states
that the Commission’s factual findings shall
be conclusive if supported by substantial evi-
dence. We review the Commission’s orders
to prevent an “arbitrary result” Borden,
Inc. v. FERC, 855 F.2d 254, 258 (5th Cir.
1988).

The seminal case discussing an appellate
court’s review of the Commission’s orders
under the NGA is Permian Basin Area Rate
Cases, 390 U.S. 747, 790-92, 88 S.Ct. 1344,
1372-73, 20 L.Ed.2d 312 (1968), instructing
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reviewing courts to examine (1) whether the
Commission abused or exceeded its authori-
ty; (2) whether each of the essential ele-
ments of the order is supported by substan-
tial evidence; and (3) whether the Commis-
sion has given reasoned consideration to each
of the pertinent factors in balancing the
needs of the industry with the relevant public
interests. Id. Our duty “is not to supplant
the Commission’s balance of these interests
with one more nearly to [our] liking, but
instead to assure [ourselves] that the Com-
mission has given reasoned consideration to
each of the pertinent factors.” Id. at 792, 88
S.Ct. at 1373. The “‘ultimate issue’” in our
review is the “‘requirement of “reasoned
consideration.”’” Borden, 855 F.2d at 258~
59 (quoting Consolidated Gas Supply Corp.
v. Federal Power Comm’n, 520 F.2d 1176,
1185 n. 45 (D.C.Cir.1975)).

A review of the record and the Commis-
sion’s order convinces us that the result the
Commission reached is not arbitrary. The
Commission gave careful and reasoned con-
sideration to the controversy before it. Sub-
stantial evidence supports its conclusion that
Transco violated the NGA, and the remedy
the Commission imposed was well within its
equitable powers.

II1.

A

Both the ALJ and the Commission deter-
mined that Transco had violated sections
T(c), 4(d), and 4(b) of the NGA by selling gas
to customers without the requisite certifica-
tion, by selling gas at a price below its filed
rate, and by making unduly discriminatory
sales.

[21 The ALJ found, and the Commission
agreed, that Transco, TRI, and TEMCO
were a single entity. Substantial evidence
supports this finding. The composition of
the three companies’ corporate boards was
almost identical. All of TRI’s officers also
were Transco officers; six of TEMCO’s sev-
en directors were on Transco’s board. Tran-
sco, TRI, and TEMCO had the same ad-
dress. In addition, agreements among the
three were wholly informal, and no legal
documents governed transactions among
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them. A Transco witness testified that TRI
was “really operated as an adjunct” of Tran-
sco. Transco’s attorney told the ALJ that
Transco created TRI and TEMCO “to sell at
the spot price” because, under the NGA,
Transco could not. '

In General Tel. Co. v. United States, 449
F.2d 846, 855 (5th Cir.1971), we declared,
“Where the statutory purpose could thus be
easily frustrated through the use of separate
corporate entities, the Commission is entitled
to look through corporate form and treat the
separate entities as one and the same for
purposes of regulation.” (Citations omitted.)
Under this test, the ALJ and the Commis-
sion correctly looked behind corporate forms
and found that the three companies really
were one. For the Commission not to have
investigated further would frustrate a statu-
tory purpose by allowing Transco to set up
subsidiaries to sell gas at prices at which the
company could not legally sell.

 [3] Transco argues that the transactions
at issue were transportation imbalances, not
sales as the ALJ and the Commission found.
Once again, substantial evidence supports the
Commission’s finding. Title to the gas trans-
ferred from Transco to its customers. Once
a customer received gas from Transco, it
paid money to Transco. In addition, while
Transco’s transportation tariff required elim-
ination of imbalances within thirty days, the
“imbalance”™ here lasted thirteen - months.
Finally, Transco never informed its custom-
ers of the -existence of imbalances, -even
though the customers would have been finan-
cially accountable for them. -

Transco asserts the Commission has no
precedent for reconstituting the transactions
as it’ did: It claims that Granite State
Transmission, Inc, 47 FERC 161,429
(1989), supports its position that the transac-
tions at issue were sales because in that case
the agency found an imbalance when a pipe-
line intentionally had overpurchased gas to
pursue a lower-cost strategy. Granite State,
however, is distinguishable, as the imbalanc-
es there resulted from operational or ac-
counting inefficiencies, not an intentional
marketing strategy as was the case here.
So, we do not agree with Transco’s assertion
that the Commission. previously has approved

of similar imbalances and now may not char-
acterize Transco’s imbalances as sales.

‘[4]1 The ALJ and the Commission found
that Transco’s sales of gas to non-captive
customers at a lower rate than to captive
customers constituted undue price discrimi-
nation. Transco admitted to the ALJ that
discrimination existed: “[Slure there is dis-
crimination here. There is no question.
Captive customers were charged a different
price than non-captive customers.” Once the
Commission shows that discrimination exists,
the pipeline has the burden of showing that
the discrimination was not undue. ANR
Pipeline Co., 41 FERC 161,043, 161,126
(1987). '

In MPC I, 761 F.2d 768, 770 (D.C.Cir.
1985), the Commission sought approval of a

‘plan that would allow pipelines to sell gas to

non-captive customers at cheaper prices than
to captive customers. While the pipelines
argued that the plan would lead to reduced
take-or-pay liability and overall cheaper gas,
the captive customers countered that the
plan would increase their gas costs. Id. at
772. The court refused to approve this plan,
“since ‘it would harm rather than help pre-
cisely those customers—the ones vulnerable
to pipeline monopoly [captive customers]—
which it was the purpose of the Natural Gas
Act to protect.” Id. at 779. Additionally, in
Associated Gas Distribs. v. FERC, 824 F.2d
981, 1010 (D.C.Cir.1987), cert. denied, 485
U.S. 1006, 108 S.Ct. 1468, 99 L.Ed.2d 698
(1988), the court pointed out that in the sale
of gas, “there is no economic justification for
charging different prices, based on the pur-
chasers’ differing access to substitutes....”

Transco’s plan was quite similar to the
plan rejected in MPC I. The alleged bene-
fits—reduced take-or-pay liability and overall
cheaper gas—were similar. The price dis-
crimination against captive customers was
the same. Transeco knew the result of the
previous cases decided by the District of
Columbia Circuit, yet still it chose to pursue
its plan.

Transco did not make any. showing that
discriminatory pricing was the only way to
achieve the alleged benefits it sought, nor did
it show why the cheaper gas could not be



1322

used to lower the price of gas to the captive
customers. Through reasoned decisionmak-
ing and supported by substantial evidence,
the ALJ and the Commission properly con-
cluded that Transco did not make the high
showing that the discrimination was not un-
due.

The ALJ’s and the Commission’s consid-
ered determinations- that Transco violated
the NGA are supported by substantial evi-
dence in the record. In short, because they
logically concluded that Transco, TRI, and
TEMCO were one entity, sales by a subsid-
iary were sales by Transco. Many of these
sales were made to customers to which Tran-
sco could not sell because it lacked proper
certification, in violation of section 7(c).
Transco, through TRI and TEMCO, sold gas
at a rate below its filed rate of $3.01 per Dth,
in violation of section 4(d). Finally, Transco
sold gas to captive customers at a higher rate
than to non-captive customers, engaging in
undue discrimination in violation of section
4(b).

B.

[51 In Phase II of his opinion, the ALJ
refused to allow Transco to pass through $75
million to its customers and ordered Transeo
to disgorge $26 million in profits it had made
transporting illegally sold gas. In its final
order, the Commission upheld its refusal to
pass through $75 million but rejected the $26
million disgorgement.

Transco argues that the Commission prop-
erly eliminated the $26 million part of the
remedy but incorrectly continued to refuse
the passthrough. Transco first attacks the
continued imposition of this remedy as con-
trary to Coastal Oil & Gas Corp. v. FERC,
782 F.2d 1249 (5th Cir.1986). It argues that
the remedy the Commission imposed here
actually is a civil penalty, forbidden by Coast-
al. In Coastal, 782 F.2d at 1253, we said
that the NGA “does not give the Commission
the authority to impose civil penalties.” (Ci-
tations omitted.) The Commission’s remedy
there required  seller of natural gas first to
refund all profits from its illegal sale of gas
and then to refund “any payment whatsoev-
er” for the gas, including its costs. Id.
While we rejected a remedy that called for a
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refund of any payment made, we did peint
out that a remedy that restored the' status
quo ante and prevented unjust enrichment
was appropriate. Id.

Transco’s argument that the remedy here
violates our decision in Coastal is unavailing.
In Coastal, we held that a remedy that forces
a company to give up all payment for gas is a
penalty. The remedy the Commission ap-
proved here does not force Transco to give
up all payment for gas it ‘sold. Rather, it
allowed Transco to recover its actual cost of
gas, specifically taking into account the lower
prices TRI and TEMCO paid for gas, but it
refused to allow Transco to recover money it
lost when it illegally sold gas at prices below
its filed rate through TRI and TEMCO.
This is a far cry from the “civil penalty” we
rejected in Coastal.

The final Commission order approving the
$75 million remedy found an appropriate re-
lationship between the remedy and the viola-
tion, namely that the denial of Transco’s $75
million passthrough was closely related to
Transco’s illegal sale of gas. Customers who
were harmed by paying Transco’s filed rate
of $3.01 per Dth for gas that actually cost
less will not be harmed further by having to
pay an extra $75 million to Transco.

Transco retorts that the remedy is flawed
because its customers did not overpay for
gas, since an examination of Transco’s overall
receipts between April 1985 and April 1986
shows that Transco received from all its cus-
tomers about $80 million less than it paid for
gas. It also asserts that its customers bene-
fitted from purchasing cheap gas from TRI
and TEMCO at the outset of the transaec-
tions, to the point that it counterbalanced any
“harm” involved in pricing gas TRI and
TEMCO returned to Transco at the higher
WACOG rate it later sold to customers and
now tries to pass through. Implicitly, Tran-
seo argues that it was trying to arrange
creative legal solutions to a dilemma brought
on by an industry in a state of turmoil and
uncertainty.

By contrast, the Commission and the ALJ
found that Transco devised a strategy that
allowed it to bill its captive customers for
losses it incurred when TRI and TEMCO
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sold. gas below its filed rate. They found,
and the record confirms, that Transco in-
curred losses when TRI and TEMCO sold
gas to non-captive customers at the market
rate, presumably because their actual cost of
gas was greater than this rate.  When TRI
and TEMCO repaid to Transeo gas that
Transco had “loaned” to them, Transco ac-
counted for this at a rate of $3.01 per Dth,
instead of the actual lower cost of about $2.40
per Dth at which TRI and TEMCO received
this gas. Transco thus inflated the cost of
the “return” gas in order to recover some of
the .cost of the gas it had sold illegally.

-The Commission’s reasoning then—that
the illegal sales and the resulting purchases
were linked so that refusing to allow Transco
the $75 million passthrough was a correct
remedy—is based upon substantial evidence
in the record; evidence that shows that Tran-
sco tried to inflate its WACOG by recording
the price of gas at a higher rate than it
actually paid. The Commission’s decision to
limit Transco’s passthrough to the actnal cost
of the replacement gas thus was a reasoned
one: The Commission refused to penalize
Transco’s customers for losses Transco suf-
fered as a result of its damaging pre-existing
contracts or its plan to escape them.

Transco’s argument that the Commission
should allow the passthrough because Tran-
sco implemented its plan as a way of coping
with chaotic industry situations is no more
persuasive. Although the Commission ini-
tially approved Transco’s first Special Mar-
keting Program, it gave only contingent ap-
proval to Transco’s revised Discount Service
Program. Final approval hinged on a deci-
sion by the District of Columbia Circuit.
Not content to wait for the requisite approv-
al, Transco implemented .a variation of its
Discount Service Program, selling gas
through TRI and TEMCO in April 1985.

In May 1985, the District of Columbia
Circuit issued its first opinions in the MPC
cases. Even though these decisions rejected
programs very similar to the one Transco
devised,  Transco continued to sell- gas
through TRI and TEMCO. Despite this no-
tice, Transco plowed ahead in its own effort
to address problems affecting it. In the face
of its insistence to continue, without authori-

zation, a program disallowed by the court of
appeals, Transco cannot now be heard to say
that an industry’s state of flux excuses its
illegal behavior.

Iv.

[6]1 Two further criticisms of the Com-
mission’s remedy remain. LILCO argues
that the decision to order Transco to refund
the $48.5 million it already has collected is
not a reasoned decision. It asserts that the
refunds will be made pro rata to some cus-
tomers who paid less than the captive cus-
tomers. Therefore, the captive customers
continue to be denied benefits from the dis-
counted sales.. LILCO maintains, for exam-
ple, that because it paid an average price of
$2.94 per Dth for its gas, while the average
price for all Transco gas was $2.87 per Dth,
it paid $2,893,486 more than it should have.
A pro rata remedy, LILCO insists, does not
redress its actual harm.

Although LILCO’s argument has some su-
perficial appeal, it does not defeat the Com-
mission’s response. Transco already has col-
lected about $48.5 million from specific cus-
tomers. In its order, the Commission states
that “fairness and equity require that the
surcharge amounts already collected shall be
refunded to the Transco customers who paid
such amounts.” The customers who paid the
surcharge should recover what they paid.
This is logical as well as legal, as “the Com-
mission has broad authority to fashion equi-
table remedies in a variety of settings.” = Co-
lumbia Gas Transmission Corp. v. FERC,
750 F.2d 105, 109 (D.C.Cir.1984).

[7] The ALJ initially included a second
remedy, ordering Transco to disgorge about
$26 million:in net transportation revenues it
had collected for carrying gas that it then
sold illegally. - About $15.7 million would go
to those customers who had paid discrimina-
tory prices and $10.3 million would go to
customers who paid the filed rate. Although
the Commission approved of this remedy in
its first order, finding that it simply required
Transco to disgorge profits on transportation
of illegally sold gas, it eliminated this remedy
in its January 15, 1992, and March 16, 1992,
orders, reasoning that market circumstances



1324

in 1985 were confusing and that the Commis-
sion originally thought schemes like Tran-
sco’s were acceptable.

NCUC contends that this is not reasoned
decisionmaking. It maintains that this was
the only remedy specifically geared to pro-
vide restitution for victims of price discrimi-
nation, and the Commission arbitrarily elimi-
nated it without articulating any proper justi-
fication; its elimination fails to-leave any
remedy for those directly affected by Tran-
sco’s illegal actions. NCUC also attacks
FERC’s “market circumstances” reasoning,
pointing out that Transco started its program
without the Commission’s approval, in con-
trast to other pipelines that started their
programs earlier than Transco, yet still
sought the Commission’s approval. .

The Commission has broad discretion to*

fashion a remedy. Columbia Gas Transmis-
sion Corp., 750 F.2d at 109. See also Mesa
Petrolewm Co. v. Federdl Power Comm’n,
441 F.2d 182, 186 (5th Cir.1971) (The Com-
mission’s predecessor, the Federal Power
Commission, had authority to structure rem-
edy.). In this case, it rationally and reason-
ably decided that the $75 million remedy
sufficiently addressed any harm. It was al-
lowed to take the market conditions into
account in determining that “limiting the
remedy to the recalculation of the allowable
unrecovered gas costs” was in best keeping
with the chaotic circumstances of the time.!

Finally, NCUC asserts that illicit ex parte
contacts between Transco’s attorneys and the
Commission’s attorneys led to the Commis-

11. NCUC argues that where the facts demon-
strate injury to the customer, FERC is obliged to
impose a remedy. Unfortunately, the cases it
cites do not support such a conclusion. In At-
lantic Refining Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n, 360
U.S. 378, 79 S.Ct. 1246, 3 L.Ed.2d 1312 (1959),
the Court was not concerned with providing a
remedy for harm to customers. It instead fo-
cused on the jurisdiction and discretion of the
Federal Power Commission undér § 7(e) of the
NGA. Id. at 380, 79 S.Ct. at 1249. Similarly, in
Public Serv. Comm’n v. FERC, 543 F.2d 757, 811
(D.C.Cir.1974), cert. denied, 424 U.S. 910, 96
S.Ct. 1106, 47 L.Ed.2d 314 (1976), the court held
that when refunds are due, they must be made
promptly. The court did not find an affirmative
duty to order refunds. Finally, Gulf Oil Corp. v.
FERC, 706 F.2d 444 (3d Cir.1983), cert. denied,
464 U.S. 1038, 104 S.Ct. 698, 79 L.Ed.2d 164
(1984), does not apply to our case.  Gulf Oil
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sion’s hearing oral argument on a petition for
rehearing. NCUC implies that secret infor-
mation passed hands, leading to the Commis-
sion’s unusual grant of oral argument.
NCUC continues that some undisclosed “crit-
ical secret documents” show that attorneys
for Transco and the Commission discussed
something more than just a request for oral
argument.

[8] Transco and the Commission reject
this argument. Transco asserts that its at-
torney simply reiterated his prior written
request for oral argument. - The Commission
points out that the request led only to a
procedural result—an opportunity for all
sides to present their arguments orally.
NCUC gives no evidence whatsoever to bol-
ster its position that something else tran-
spired. In its opinion resolving the ex parte
issue, the Commission concluded that even if
it treated the communication as ex parte, no
harm resulted, and no damage was done to
the decisionmaking process.

Although the request for oral argument
should. have been in writing, with notice to all
parties, we agree with the Commission’s de-
termination that NCUC provides no evidence
that any improper activity took place. Nor
was NCUC prejudiced in any way. NCUC
was allowed to file briefs and argue its case.
The Commission correctly chose to hear oral
argument. -

V.

In conclusion, we find that substantial evi-
dence supports the reasoned Commission’s

concentrates on the 'support in the record for
FERC’s calculation of a refund, not the mandato-
ry nature of refunds. Id. at 447.

In Towns of Concord, Norwood, & Wellesley v.
FERC, 955 F.2d 67, 72 (D.C.Cir.1992), the court
addressed the question of whether sections of the
Federal Power Act (parallel to the NGA sections
applicable here) confer on FERC the discretion
to refuse to order refunds when a company has
violated the filed rate doctrine and passed on
costs to its customers. The court decided that
FERC was not obligated to impose a refund. Id.
at 76. It “refused to constrain agency discretion
by imposing a presumption in favor of re-
funds.... The agency need only show that it
‘considered relevant factors and ... struck a
reasonable accommodation among them.”” Id.
(quoting Los Cruces TV Cable v. Federal Commu-
nications Comm’n, 645 F.2d 1041, 1047 (D.C.Cir.
1981)).
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order. Transco violated sections 4(b), 4:1),
and 7(c) of the NGA. As a remedy, the
Commission approved part of an ALJ’s opin-
ion refusing to allow Transco to pass through
$75 million to its customers. The Commis-
sion also eliminated an additional remedy
that ordered Transco to disgorge an addi-
tional $26 million. This was :all within
FERC’s discretion, supported by substantial
evidence, and based upon reasoned decision-
making. We therefore DENY the petitions
for review and AFFIRM the Commission’s
order in full.
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Railroad and its president brought ac-
tion for misappropriation of trade secrets and
breach of confidential relationship against
two British corporations, and corporations
filed counterclaim for libel. The United
States District Court for the Western Dis-
trict of Texas, Sam Sparks, J., awarded cor-
porations $1 in compensatory damages and
$500,000 in punitive damages on their libel
counterclaim, and appeal was taken. The
Court of Appeals, Jerry E. Smith, Circuit
Judge, held that: (1) corporations were pri-
vate individuals for purposes of determining
standard of fault required by First Amend-
ment; (2) allegedly -libelous statement in-

volved matter of private concern; (3) remand
was required to determine whether district
court wished to award presumed damages;
(4) First Amendment did not impose fault
requirement for recovery of presumed dam-
ages; and (5) award of nominal damages
could not support award of punitive damages.

Affirmed in part, vacated in part and
remanded.

Duhé, Circuit Judge, concurred in result.

1. Libel and Slander =73

Corporation may sustain cause of action
under Texas law for libel

2. Constitutional Law ¢=90.1(5)

First Amendment imposes on libel plain-
tiffs burden of proving defendant’s conduct
satisfies certain standard of fault; it does not
create affirmative defense that must be pled.
U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 1.

"3. Constitutional Law @90.1(5)

British corporations were private figures
for purposes of determining First Amend-
ment standard of fault applicable to -their
libel claims; corporations did not have Amer-
ican subsidiaries, did not deal in consumer
goods, and had not received significant past
publicity. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 1.

4. Libel and Slander ¢>48(1)

In determining whether corporation is a
public figure or private figure for purposes of
a libel claim, factors to be considered include:
notoriety of corporation to average individual
in relevant geographic area; nature of corpo-
ration’s business; and frequency and intensi-
ty of media scrutiny that corporation normal-
ly receives. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 1.

5. Libel and Slander &=48(1)

Public figure must be known to public at
large, not merely to select group of individu-
als similarly situated to individual or corpora-
tion in question. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 1.

6. Constitutional Law &=90.1(5)

Press release issued by railroad’s presi-
dent regarding suit brought by railroad and
president against two British corporations,
accusing the corporations of “international



